
Special Cabinet

Date Wednesday 23 March 2016
Time 11.00 am (Please note start time)
Venue Committee Room 2, County Hall, Durham

Part A

Items during which the press and public are welcome to attend - 
members of the public can ask questions with the Chairman's 

agreement

1. Declarations of interest  
Key Decision:

2. North East Combined Authority: Devolution Agreement - Report of 
Chief Executive [Key Decision: CORP/R/16/01]  (Pages 1 - 50)

3. Such other business as, in the opinion of the Chairman of the meeting, 
is of sufficient urgency to warrant consideration.  

4. Any resolution relating to the exclusion of the public during the 
discussion of items containing exempt information.  

Part B

Items during which it is considered the meeting will not be open to the 
public (consideration of exempt or confidential information)

5. Such other business as, in the opinion of the Chairman of the meeting, 
is of sufficient urgency to warrant consideration.  

Colette Longbottom
Head of Legal and Democratic Services

County Hall
Durham
15 March 2016

To: The Members of the Cabinet

Councillors S Henig and A Napier (Leader and Deputy Leader of the 
Council) together with Councillors J Brown, N Foster, L Hovvels, 
O Johnson, M Plews, B Stephens, E Tomlinson and J Allen

Contact: Ros Layfield Tel: 03000 269708





Cabinet

23 March 2016

North East Combined Authority:
Devolution Agreement.

Key Decision: CORP/R/16/01

Report of the Corporate Management Team
Report of Terry Collins, Chief Executive
Councillor Simon Henig, the Leader of the Council 

Purpose of the Report

1. To invite cabinet to consider whether to consent to the proposed Devolution 
Agreement including the provision of an Elected Mayor for the North East 
Combined Authority.

Background

2. Durham County Council is a constituent Council of the North East Combined 
Authority ( NECA) that was established in 2014.

3. It has responsibility for strategic transport for all seven local authorities. 
Members of this council have been appointed to various key roles within the 
combined authority with Councillor Simon Henig (Leader of this Council) 
chairing the NECA and together with the five other Leaders and Mayor for 
North Tyneside form its central leadership board. 

4. Following the 2015 General Election, the Chancellor of the Exchequer 
announced the availability of devolved powers to combined authorities. The 
Leadership Board of NECA negotiated and signed a proposed agreement on 
23 October 2015, subject to a number of conditions: 

 The outcome of the Spending Review on 25 November; including fair 
funding

 The legislative process

 Further public consultation;

 Formal endorsement by the Leadership Board and Ministers early in 
2016/17

A condition for devolved powers is that NECA will become a Mayoral 
Authority.



5. More detail on how these conditions have been met will be dealt with further 
in a report which will be circulated to cabinet by its meeting on the 23r March 
2016.

6. On the 24th February, Council considered a report of the Leader which 
contained more details on the proposed mayoral authority and advised on the 
analysis of the responses to the Poll of the electorate of County Durham. It 
also provided an update on the legislative position, financial issues and 
highlighted the continuing key issues for County Durham and  recommended 
that Council:

a) note the information on the proposed deal provided in the report

b) note the conditions on which the proposed deal is to be decided namely:

 The outcome of the spending review on 25 November 2015;

 The legislative process

 Further public consultations (which for Durham includes the results 
of the poll of all electors)

 Agreement by constituent councils

 Formal endorsement by the Leadership Board and Ministers.

c) note the update on the degree to which these have been met, namely

 That negotiations on funding to the North East are continuing 
following the outcome of the settlement of 16/17 

 Consultation outcomes, including those of the poll support the 
devolution of funding and resources to the North East but are 
cautious as to the degree to which devolution should go beyond the 
current proposed deal and would wish to see a mayor with more 
limited powers;

 That the legislation to enable devolution through mayoral combined 
authorities has received Royal Assent and that further detail is 
under development;

 That each constituent council will consider the proposed deal, 
making decisions through cabinets;

 The Leadership Board will make a final decision when the position 
of all constituent councils is known.



d) Note and confirms that the following Durham specific conditions have been 
accommodated within the combined authority development and proposed 
devolution deal to date and must continue to be so in the final decision 
making

 There will be no change to the transport levy in a way as to 
disadvantage Durham;

 Integrated transport arrangements will not mean more cost or 
disadvantage to Durham;

 That absorption of the role of the Durham PCC is currently not part 
of the devolution deal and that any future devolution will not be to 
the detriment of Durham’s police and fire services;

 That any future interpretation of health and social care takes 
account of the significantly different patient flows in County Durham 
and is not to the detriment of health services.

7. When the report was presented to Council it was against a backdrop of 
continuing negotiations with the Government and a need, acknowledged by 
the members to have more information before Cabinet could consider whether 
to agree to the proposed Devolution Agreement including the provision of an 
Elected Mayor for the North East Combined Authority. At the point where the 
agenda for this meeting is circulated, the negotiations are continuing.  

8. A  Report will therefore be circulated to Cabinet members by the meeting.

Background Papers

Report to the Council “North East Combined Authority:
Devolution Deal” Dated 9 December 2015

Report to the Cabinet “North East Combined Authority Devolution Deal” Dated 10 
February 2016

Report to the Council “North East combined Authority: Devolution Deal and Poll 
Result. Dated 24 February 2016

Contact: Colette Longbottom  Tel: 03000 269732



Appendix 1:  Implications

Finance – None Specific in this report.

Staffing –. None specific in this report.

Risk – None specific in this report.

Equality and Diversity / Public Sector Equality Duty- None specific in this report.

Accommodation – None specific with this report.

Crime and Disorder - None specific with this report.

Human Rights – None specific with this report.

Consultation –. None specific with this report.

Procurement – None specific in this report.

Legal Implications - None specific with this report



Cabinet

23 March 2016

North East Combined Authority: 
Devolution Decision

Report of the Corporate Management Team
Councillor Simon Henig, Leader
Terry Collins, Chief Executive

Purpose of the Report
1 This report updates Cabinet on the proposed devolution agreement and 

invites Cabinet to consider next steps.

Background
2 A report to County Council on 24 February 2016 provided an update on the 

proposed devolution agreement, including the results of the County Durham 
poll.  It also provided an update on the legislative position, financial issues and 
highlighted the continuing key issues for County Durham.  The Council agreed 
to:

a) note the information on the proposed deal provided in the report (attached 
as Appendix 2)

b) note the conditions on which the proposed deal is to be decided namely:

i. The outcome of the spending review on 25 November 2015;

ii. The legislative process;

iii. Further public consultations (which for Durham includes the 
results of the poll of all electors);

iv. Agreement by constituent Councils; and

v. Formal endorsement by the Leadership Board and Ministers.

c) note the update on the degree to which these have been met, namely:

i. That negotiations on funding to the North East are continuing 
following the outcome of the settlement of 16/17;

ii. Consultation outcomes, including those of the poll, support the 
devolution of funding and resources to the North East but are 



cautious as to the degree to which devolution should go beyond 
the current proposed deal and would wish to see a mayor with 
more limited powers;

iii. That the legislation to enable devolution through mayoral 
combined authorities has received Royal Assent and that 
further detail is under development;

iv. That each constituent Council will consider the proposed deal, 
making decisions through Cabinets; and

v. The North East Combined Authority (NECA) Leadership Board 
will make a final decision when the position of all constituent 
councils is known.

d) Note and confirm that the following Durham specific conditions have been 
accommodated within the Combined Authority development and proposed 
devolution deal to date and must continue to be so in the final decision 
making:-

i. There will be no change to the transport levy in a way as to 
disadvantage Durham;

ii. Integrated transport arrangements will not mean more cost or 
disadvantage to Durham;

iii. That absorption of the role of the Durham PCC is currently not 
part of the devolution deal and that any future devolution will 
not be to the detriment of Durham’s Police and Fire Services; 
and

iv. That any future interpretation of health and social care takes 
account of the significantly different patient flows in County 
Durham and is not to the detriment of health services.

3 The report to Council described the negotiations with Government that were 
continuing at that time and are still continuing.  The remainder of this report 
summarises the progress made to date and the issues that are still 
outstanding.

Extent to which conditions have been met

4 Of the conditions listed in paragraph 2(b), only the outcome of public 
consultation remains at the same position as described in the February 
Council report which presented detailed findings of the poll and the other 
consultations undertaken in County Durham and across the NECA area.  No 
further consultations were planned given the comprehensive nature of that 
conducted to date.



5 Progress has been made on the legislative process with more detailed 
understanding emerging of the decision-making process including the 
timetable for the development of orders required to enable a Mayoral 
Combined Authority to function, although there are a number of issues that 
remain to be resolved.  There has also been greater assurance provided of 
the legislative issues affecting County Durham, which are described in the 
next section.

6 Whilst progress has been made to clarify aspects of the financial benefits of 
the proposed agreement, negotiations are still continuing to clarify the issue of 
‘fair funding’. These include issues such as: the principle of a single five year 
programme of allocation of local growth funding to form part of the North East 
Investment Fund; more detail on the Government’s five year gateway tests on 
the £30 million a year investment fund which as things stand could put the 
commitment to ongoing funding at risk; the devolution of sustainable travel 
funding; comparison with the fiscal freedoms granted to Scotland and 
consideration of protecting Newcastle Airport from the impacts of the 
proposed reduction in Air Passenger Duty to Scotland in 2018.  Clarity is still 
required at this stage on the power for the elected mayor to levy a council tax 
precept for the running of the mayor’s office and support functions plus the 
election costs for the mayor which will be incurred every four years from 2017.

7 The Council report made clear that a decision to agree to the proposed 
devolution agreement is an executive function.  Cabinet meetings have been 
scheduled by the seven NECA constituent authorities for the period 21-24 
March.  At the time of writing it is understood that two authorities (Newcastle 
and North Tyneside) have agreed to the proposed agreement.

8 A meeting of the NECA Leadership Board has been scheduled for 24 March, 
after all seven cabinets have considered their position.

County Durham Issues

9 Previous reports on the combined authority and devolution have highlighted 
that Durham has significant issues, some of which are unique within the 
combined authority area.  These are:

a) Transport: Durham and Northumberland were never part of the Tyne 
and Wear Integrated Transport Authority (ITA) and have rural transport 
issues that are unique to largely rural counties;

b) Health: the footprint for health services for County Durham residents 
involves significant patient flows to Tees Valley.  The council is part of 
an NHS unit of planning which comprises Durham, Darlington and Tees 
and has been involved for some time in an NHS sub-regional project to 
consider hospital and out of hospital care from the Tees Valley and 
County Durham known as the ‘Better Health Programme’.



c) Police and fire: whilst police arrangements for six of the seven 
constituent councils are shared, Durham’s police authority is separate 
and covers both County Durham and Darlington.  Darlington is part of 
the Tees Valley combined authority.  Durham’s fire authority covers the 
same footprint as the police and therefore again straddles two 
combined authority areas.

10 In the weeks since the council report, there has been significant progress in 
addressing the issues that are specific to County Durham, with an 
acceleration of pace in the last week or so.

11 On transport, there has been written assurance that solutions will be found to 
avoid any material redistribution of costs between the three areas by any new 
council tax precepting arrangements.  A commitment has been given by 
Government to retain the current three council tax levy arrangement for 
County Durham, Northumberland and the five authorities in Tyne & Wear to 
fund transport costs in these three areas.

12 On health, police and fire arrangements, there is recognition, and the 
proposed legislation reflects this, that any further devolution proposals in any 
of these areas, or indeed any other, will require the explicit agreement of 
Durham County Council. In other words, such future devolution proposals 
would be supported by the inclusion of appropriate safeguards in decision-
making to protect the interests of DCC or other constituent authorities in a 
minority voting position.

Conclusion

13 The Council supports the principle of devolution, noting that almost 60% of 
respondents to the recent consultation agreed that the region could benefit 
from devolved powers. It is clear that progress has been made on the issues 
identified in the County Council report of 24 February, including on the 
conditions attached to consideration of the proposed agreement and those 
specific to County Durham.

14 However, there remain outstanding issues to be addressed, particularly on fair 
funding and governance.  At the time of writing, more information is required 
on the mayoral precept.

Recommendation

15 It is recommended that Cabinet:

a) note the progress made since the Council report on 24 February 
2016;

b) note the conditions that were set out in the proposed agreement 
and described in the Council report;



c) note in particular that the condition regarding fair funding has not 
been fully met;

d) note that further clarification and commitment from Government on 
outstanding issues (including governance) is being requested 
through NECA;

e) defer making a final decision on the proposed devolution agreement 
until  the outstanding issues are resolved.

Contact: Lorraine O’Donnell, Assistant Chief Executive
           



Appendix 1:  Implications

Financial – the main potential financial benefits of NECA are set out in the report 
and include an additional £30 million of funding per year from Government for 30 
years to set up an Investment Fund for the NECA region.

The pre-conditions for County Durham of the current transport levy arrangements for 
NECA to be retained have been met by the government.

Staffing  there will be additional staffing costs in the setting up of the Mayor’s Office 
that will have to be met from either a council tax precept on all local authorities within 
NECA or from the £30 million a year revenue funding from government. 

Risk – the pre-condition of ‘fair funding’ arrangements to be met prior to the 
proposed deal being agreed is subject to further negotiations between NECA and 
government.

Equality and Diversity / Public Sector Equality Duty - none

Accommodation - none

Crime and Disorder - none

Human Rights - none

Consultation - Within the body of the report

Procurement - none

Disability Issues - none

Legal Implications - Within the body of the report



 

 

County Council 
 

24 February 2016 
 

North East Combined Authority: 

Devolution Update and Poll Results 

 

 
 

Councillor Simon Henig, Leader 

 
Purpose of the Report 

1 This report provides an update on the proposed devolution agreement, 
including the results of the County Durham poll, in order to facilitate a Council 
debate to influence the required Cabinet decision on whether Durham County 
Council should agree any final devolution agreement. 

Executive Summary 

2 Durham County Council is a constituent council of the North East Combined 
Authority (NECA) that was established in April 2014.  Background information 
is provided on the constitution and function of the combined authority and the 
changes required if the devolution agreement is finalised. 

3 Following the 2015 General Election, the Chancellor of the Exchequer 
announced the availability of devolved powers to combined authorities.  The 
Leadership Board of NECA negotiated with Government and signed a 
proposed agreement on 23 October 2015, subject to a number of conditions 
which are described within this report, together with a summary of the extent 
to which these conditions have been met. 

4 One of the important conditions required before making a decision on the deal 
was public consultation.  This report summarises the consultation undertaken 
across the NECA area.  Durham is unique in having conducted a poll of all 
electors, as agreed by Council on 9 December 2015.  The poll closed on 8 
February and the results are presented in the report together with a summary 
of the outcomes of consultation with local businesses and other stakeholders. 

5 Legislation required to enable combined authorities to deliver devolution 
arrangements is contained within the Cities and Local Government Devolution 
Act 2016, which received Royal Assent on 28 January 2016.  The Act has 
been subject to considerable amendment during its passage through the 
legislative process.  A summary is provided of the key changes and the 
timetable for further detail to be developed through Orders and Regulations. 

6 Previous reports on the Combined Authority and devolution have highlighted 
issues that are both significant for and unique to Durham, including transport 
arrangements, police and fire arrangements and patient flows for health 
services.  A description of these issues and the provisions made for them are 
described in the report. 

APPENDIX 2



 

 

7 Finally, the next steps on decision making by each council’s Cabinet and by 
the NECA Leadership Board are described. 

Background – Creation of Combined Authorities, including NECA 

8 A Combined Authority is a legal structure to lead collaboration between local 
authorities and enable strategic decision-making on economic growth and 
transport. They were introduced in the Local Democracy Economic 
Development and Construction Act 2009 and were designed to enable groups 
of local authorities to work closely together to deliver improvements in 
economic growth and transport across local authority boundaries. 

9 On 24 June 2013 Cabinet endorsed the findings of the governance review 
undertaken in April/May 2013, including specifically the finding that the 
creation of a combined authority covering the authority areas of Durham, 
Gateshead, Newcastle, North Tyneside, Northumberland, South Tyneside and 
Sunderland would improve the discharge of functions relating to transport, 
skills, and economic development across the region. All seven cabinets 
considered that a combined authority (later named the North East Combined 
Authority) would strengthen collaboration between the constituent local 
authorities and enable strategic decision making on economic growth and 
transport. On 24 July 2013 Council endorsed the decision of Cabinet. The 
councils of the other constituent councils in turn endorsed the decision of their 
respective cabinets. 

10 Subsequent Cabinet and Council decisions included appointing members of 
the council to the Leadership Board and Scrutiny Committee of NECA and 
agreeing specific arrangements for transport as described later in the report. 

11 The NECA Leadership Board is supported by a part time interim Chief 
Executive, a part time interim Chief Finance Officer plus part time monitoring 
officer support provided by North Tyneside.  A small support team of officers 
is also in place.  The costs for these officers are being funded from equal 
contributions from the seven authorities plus the use of NECA reserves. 

12 Combined authorities that agree to a devolution deal must become mayoral 
combined authorities.  The legislation to enable this to happen has been 
under development and is described later in the report.  For NECA, the 
election of a mayor would be expected to take place in May 2017. 

Devolution and the Proposed North East Devolution Agreement 

13 The Chancellor of the Exchequer announced the availability of devolved 
powers to combined authorities following the General Election in May 2015.   
Thirty-eight cities and regions put forward bids by the Government’s deadline 
of 4 September 2015.  To date, devolution deals have been agreed for 
Greater Manchester, Sheffield, Leeds, Cornwall, the West Midlands, Liverpool 
and the Tees Valley.  More deals, including the proposed North East 
devolution agreement are at different stages of development.  Given the fact 
that devolution powers originated in the area of economic regeneration and 
transport, and linkages have been made to the Northern Powerhouse, it is 



 

 

perhaps not surprising that the greatest initial interest and most advanced 
development of combined authorities and devolution deals have so far been in 
conurbations in Northern England. 

14 The NECA Leadership Board negotiated with Government and signed a 
proposed North East devolution agreement on 23 October 2015, subject to 
the following conditions: 

- The outcome of the spending review on 25 November 2015; 

- The legislative process 

- Further public consultations (which for Durham includes the results of the 
poll of all electors) 

- Agreement by constituent councils 

- Formal endorsement by the Leadership Board and Ministers. 

15 The proposed agreement was circulated to members at the full council 
meeting on 28 October and is reproduced as Appendix 2. 

16 The main points of the proposed agreement are: 

- to give the North East new opportunities to support businesses and create 
more jobs.  That includes giving the North East an extra £30 million a year 
to set up an Investment Fund to help business growth. 

- To let the North East develop its own plans to improve post 16 education 
and training so that people have better skills and better prospects. 

- To let the North East take more decisions about transport investment, 
particularly public transport. 

- To enable the North East to do more to identify opportunities for 
investment in new housing. 

- To give the North East more say over how money from European Union is 
spent in the North East. 

- To enable the North East to review health and social care provision and 
develop plans to improve and integrate services so that people receive 
better care. 

17 As explained above, agreement to a devolution deal would require the 
election of a mayor for the combined authority area. It is proposed that the 
mayor would have personal accountability for the following: 

 Responsibility for a devolved and consolidated transport budget, with a 
multi-year settlement to be agreed at the Spending Review. 



 

 

 Responsibility for franchised bus services and, through Rail North, 
franchised rail services, contributing to the delivery of smart and 
integrated ticketing across the North East. 

 Powers over strategic planning, including the responsibility to create a 
North East Planning Development Framework and to chair a new North 
East Land Commission to release land for development. 

 Powers to place a supplement on business rates to fund infrastructure, 
with the agreement of the local business community through the local 
enterprise partnership, up to a cap. 

 
18 The Leadership Board, made up of the Leaders and Elected Mayor of the 

constituent authorities would be renamed as the ‘Cabinet’ of NECA and 
working with the Mayor would have the following powers: 

 
 To create a North East Combined Authority Investment Fund, bringing 

together funding for devolved powers and used to deliver a 15 year 
programme of transformational investment in the region. 

 Control of a new £30 million a year funding allocation over 30 years, to 
be included in the NECA Investment Fund and invested to boost 
growth. 

 Joint responsibility for an Employment and Skills Board, that will 
undertake a comprehensive review and redesign  of the post-16 
education, skills and employment support system in the North East, 
delivered through the area-based review of post 16 provision, 
devolution of adult skills funding by 2018/19 and co-design by 
Government and NECA of employment support for harder-to-help 
claimants. 

 Responsibility for a devolved approach to business support from 2017, 
including further responsibility for UKTI export advice services, to be 
developed in partnership with Government. 

 Joint responsibility for the rollout of broadband across the North East. 
 Increased devolved responsibility for rural growth. 

 
19 The Elected Mayor would be the Chair and a member of NECA. All members 

of NECA, including the Elected Mayor would have one vote and any proposal 
requiring a decision of NECA could be put forward by either the Mayor or a 
Cabinet Member.  

Extent to which conditions have been met 

20 An update is provided below on the conditions set out in the proposed 
devolution agreement. 

The outcome of the spending review  

21 The devolution agreement made reference to seeking a fair funding 
settlement for the North East: ‘ensuring that the North East does not suffer 
disproportionately from future reductions in funding through a fair funding 
settlement’.  The spending review of 25 November 2015 made clear that 



 

 

austerity will continue for local government until at least 2020.  The final 
financial settlement for 16/17 received on 8 February 2016 is summarised in 
the financial implications section at Appendix 1. Of the additional £150m of 
Government Transitional Grant funding for the next two years and the 
additional £61m Rural Services Delivery Grant included in the final settlement, 
only Northumberland benefited.   

22 In finalising the proposed devolution agreement, further discussions are being 
held with DCLG and Treasury. 

Consultation including the Durham Poll 

23 Previous paragraphs highlighted the consultation that was undertaken and 
which influenced the decision to form NECA.  At each stage of the process 
there was consultation throughout the NECA area in each of the constituent 
local authority areas and further consultation bespoke to each area.  At each 
stage, Durham has had the highest turnout within the NECA area, and in 
conducting the poll, has carried out the largest consultation in England on a 
policy issue. 

24 The consultation events and the issues emerging from them are summarised 
in Appendix 3.  The main points are: 

- There was general support voiced for the concept of devolution amongst 
partners, businesses, the general public and the voluntary sector 

- The issues covered by the proposed agreement were thought to be 
appropriate 

- Suggestions of areas for future devolution included culture, tourism, 
housing and the environment 

- There were concerns expressed as to how issues such as the rural nature 
of County Durham, and the   non-co-terminous boundaries of Durham’s 
police and fire services would be accommodated within the proposed 
devolution arrangements 

- There was interest expressed as to how Durham could continue to work 
with areas beyond the combined authority area, particularly for businesses 
and regarding health and social care services. 

25 The decision to conduct a poll of all electors was made by full council on 9 
December 2015.The methodology for conducting the poll was also agreed at 
that meeting and included a postal survey, background information and 
questions developed by the University of Durham, and the commissioning of 
the poll and its analysis by a third party organisation with the infrastructure to 
carry out such a high volume poll (377,110 electors) within a short period.  
Electoral Reform Services was appointed in mid-December and the poll was 
conducted from 11 January to 8 February 2016. 

26 The results of the poll are presented in Appendix 4.  The total number of 
responses received was 81,964 from an electorate of 377,110 representing a 



 

 

21.7% turnout.  This is evidence of a significant amount of interest in what is 
essentially a policy issue.  Advertisements informing residents of the poll were 
placed in the local press and ran on local radio.  There were articles and 
editorials on the issue in the regional press and interviews/coverage on 
regional TV.  In the absence of significant national coverage of this issue and 
campaigning, such a turnout is very encouraging. 

27 Analysis of the poll results shows that: 

- A clear majority (59.5%) of electors responding thought that devolving 
some power and resources to the North East would be a step in the right 
direction.  A minority (14.9%) thought that it would be the wrong thing to 
do.  A quarter of respondents thought that devolving some power and 
resources would make little difference or didn’t know (19.9% and 5.7% 
respectively). 

- Respondents’ views on the powers of an elected mayor were more mixed.  
47.8% thought that the mayor should have limited power and influence i.e. 
someone who chairs the combined authority but does not have a major 
role representing the area.  40.3% of respondents took the view that the 
mayor should have quite a lot of power and influence – perhaps coming to 
be seen as someone who represents the voice of the North East area.  
11.9% of respondents were unsure of their views on this topic.  At 1,088 
this issue had the most invalid responses of the four questions. 

- The most popular response to the question as to whether if the agreement 
goes ahead, people would like to try to get additional powers and 
resources devolved to the north east was “not sure – it depends, let’s wait 
and see” (42.9%).  Clear views of “no, I wouldn’t want to see more 
devolution” were expressed by 22.4% and “yes, I would like to see more 
devolution” by 28.3% on this issue; 6.4% were unsure of their views. 

- On being asked their views as to whether if the agreement goes ahead, it 
would bring more prosperity and jobs to County Durham, 40.5% thought it 
would, 9.1% thought it would not, and 36.2% thought it would make little or 
no impact to jobs and prosperity.  More people (14.2%) answered “I don’t 
know” to this question than any of the others 

Legislation 

28 Legislation required to enable combined authorities to assume devolved 
powers is largely contained within the Cities and Local Government 
Devolution Act 2016. 

29 The Act received Royal Assent on 28 January 2016 and will be in force before 
the end of March.  The Act provides a framework for: 

- Devolution of powers and responsibilities to combined authorities from 
Government 

- Introduction of new mayoral combined authorities 



 

 

- Transfer or sharing of powers and responsibilities from other public bodies 

30 A key principle underpinning these opportunities for change is consent and 
the Act envisages that any material change in power or the introduction of a 
combined authority mayor will be with the consent of the combined authority 
and constituent authorities.  A decision to provide such consent is a matter for 
the NECA Leadership Board and the cabinets of the constituent authorities. 

31 The act envisages costs incurred in, or in connection with, the Mayoral office 
could be met through a Mayoral Precept with effect from 2018/19, subject to 
enabling orders that are yet to be agreed. The Mayoral responsibilities include 
a devolved and consolidated transport budget and so the current transport 
levy arrangement is expected to change from the current arrangements where 
the council tax payers in the five Tyne and Wear authorities currently pay a 
levy for the transport services provided by the former Integrated Transport 
Authority and Durham and Northumberland have separate levies for 
passenger transport services and concessionary fares costs in their areas.  

32 It is not yet confirmed when an order permitting a mayoral precept will be 
made.  More detail about the process for agreeing and funding the Mayoral 
budget will emerge in secondary legislation but the Act envisages scrutiny of 
the draft budget and the power to change it.  

33 Details of the operation of some aspects of the new legislation, such as 
scrutiny and budget setting will be set out in orders and regulations following 
consultation by DCLG, which is expected over the next few months. 

34 The Government is therefore enacting legislation to enable devolution powers 
to be assumed by mayoral combined authorities.  At this stage, much of the 
detail has yet to be developed. 

Agreement by Constituent Councils 
Formal endorsement by the Leadership Board and Ministers 

35 The proposed devolution agreement must be considered by each constituent 
council’s Cabinet in advance of a final decision to be taken by the NECA 
Leadership Board. 

36 Each constituent council is planning to debate the issue at a council meeting 
in advance of the Cabinet decision on the issue.  The current timetable is that 
Council meetings and Cabinet meetings will take place prior to a NECA 
Leadership Board meeting on 24 March 2016. 

37 This report, updated with any further emerging information will form the 
background information to a report to Cabinet.  

38 Any constituent council that decides not to agree the proposed devolution 
agreement would be required to leave the combined authority. The proposed 
devolution agreement could still be agreed provided that there are two or 
more constituent councils in the combined authority.  However the final 
decision on whether to agree the proposed agreement lies with the NECA 



 

 

Leadership Board once all constituent councils have made clear their 
positions. 

County Durham Issues 

39 Previous reports on the combined authority and devolution have highlighted 
that Durham has significant issues, some of which are unique within the 
combined authority area.  These are: 

- Transport: Durham and Northumberland were never part of the Tyne and 
Wear Integrated Transport Authority (ITA) and have rural transport issues 
that are unique to largely rural counties; 

- Health: the footprint for health services for County Durham residents 
involves significant patient flows to Tees Valley.  The council is part of an 
NHS unit of planning which comprises Durham, Darlington and Tees and 
has been involved for some time in an NHS sub-regional project to 
consider hospital and out of hospital care from the Tees Valley and County 
Durham known as the ‘Better Health Programme’. 

- Police and fire: whilst police arrangements for six of the seven constituent 
councils are shared, Durham’s police authority is separate and covers both 
County Durham and Darlington.  Darlington is part of the Tees Valley 
combined authority.  Durham’s fire authority covers the same footprint as 
the police and therefore again straddles two combined authority areas. 

40 Durham’s position on transport is very clear and has been provided for in the 
constitution and Order of NECA.  

41 There are some significant differences in the way in which transport is 
delivered and the cost of transport services between Tyne and Wear, Durham 
and Northumberland. There is a commitment to consider transport integration 
across the NECA area, with the potential for an elected mayor to take direct 
responsibility for all transport matters across NECA. This could extend to 
franchising of all bus services under the proposed Buses Bill.  The authority 
will need to ensure that this will only be progressed where it can be shown to 
be more effective and efficient, whilst maintaining or improving the quality of 
service across the County.  

42 The Order transferred the responsibility for passenger transport and 
concessionary fares from the Council to the combined authority. However, in 
order to protect the Council’s position set out above, the Constitution of the 
Combined Authority, and the Operating Agreement between the constituent 
authorities delegated these functions back to the County Council. 

43 The Order also made provision for three separate levies to be issued, to the 
Tyne and Wear districts, Durham and Northumberland; and protected the two 
county councils from any costs or liabilities in relation to the functions, 
property and rights transferred to the Combined Authority from the former 
Tyne and Wear ITA.      



 

 

44 The constitutional changes required to change from a combined authority to a 
mayoral combined authority bring similar risks to those managed so far on the 
creation of the combined authority. Care must therefore be taken to delineate 
our arrangements in a similar fashion, in the creation of a mayoral combined 
authority if the proposed devolution agreement is agreed. 

45 Whilst we should consider the opportunities presented by any new legislation, 
full harmonisation of passenger transport could reduce flexibility for Durham in 
dealing with our own budget pressures. 

46 The existing alignment of transport functions with other place shaping 
functions within Regeneration and Economic Development is also considered 
to be more effective in delivering against Durham’s strategic and economic 
agenda. 

47 The current integration across home to school, public transport, health 
transport and adult social care transport delivery areas is considered to offer 
greater efficiency for meeting transport needs in rural areas. Any further 
integration within NECA would need to demonstrate that it would be more 
efficient and provide greater value for money than the present arrangements. 

48 The devolution agreement contains the proposal to establish a Commission 
for Health and Social Care to establish the scope and basis for integration, 
deeper collaboration and devolution across the combined authority’s area.     
In contributing fully to the evidence base and sharing with partners the 
development of the commission’s findings, it will be important to continue to 
ensure that there is widespread understanding of and account taken of 
Durham’s significantly different patient flows and health service planning 
footprint, if the proposed devolution agreement is finalised. 

49 Some devolution deals, including that for Greater Manchester include 
provision for the Mayor to assume the responsibility of the Police and Crime 
Commission for that area.  This is not a part of the proposed North East 
devolution agreement. 

Financial implications 

50 The financial benefits of the devolution agreement have been described 
above and in the financial implications section of Appendix 1.  Negotiations 
are still ongoing as to how the overall funding package for the North East 
could be improved.  Costs would be incurred to hold mayoral elections and 
run the mayoral office.  Legislation, subject to enabling orders that are yet to 
be agreed, gives the mayor power to raise a council tax precept to pay for 
these costs but this power will not be able to be put in place until at least 
2018/19  i.e. the first financial year after the mayor is elected.  The costs for 
NECA and the mayoral office for at least the first two years would therefore 
have to be met from the £30m a year grant funding. 

 

 



 

 

Next steps 

51 As outlined above the next step in decision making is consideration of the 
proposed agreement by each constituent council through a series of council 
and cabinet meetings.  The NECA Leadership Board will then take a final 
decision once the position of each constituent council is known. 

52 Following Royal Assent of the Act, a series of Orders necessary for 
implementation of the act will be required.  These include: 

- An Order allowing for the creation of mayors to allow elections in 2017.   

- An Order modifying the existing Combined Authority Order; 

- Further Orders to convey specific information regarding for example the 
budget process, precept etc. 

Conclusion 

53 Local Government in England has long asked for greater powers to be 
devolved from Westminster.  The devolution deal on offer is a complex one.  
At its heart is collaboration on economic regeneration, transport and skills 
beyond local authority boundaries.  A review of this area was conducted 
before the establishment of NECA which found that there would be economic 
benefit from collaborating over this geography.   

54 The Government has committed to the investment of £30m revenue funding 
over the next 30 years from 2016 and the devolution of powers in relation to 
regeneration, transport and skills.  A condition of this deal is the election of a 
mayor with effect from May 2017 and the transition of NECA to a mayoral 
combined authority. 

55 Much is still uncertain about the details of the new legislation enabling 
mayoral combined authorities to assume devolved powers.  Negotiations are 
still continuing as to how the financial offer can be strengthened. It is also 
unclear as to how Government will work with combined authorities in 
comparison to those areas that have not agreed to work in this way.  In an 
ideal world, we would have complete visibility on these issues and how they 
would develop. 

56 Durham has sought the views of stakeholders and the public to a much 
greater extent than any other authority through the poll of all electors.  There 
is clear support for devolving some power and resources to the North East 
and a view that we should “wait and see” how further devolution could be 
achieved in the future.  General support for devolution was also apparent in 
the consultation held with partners, businesses and the voluntary sector. 

57 Consultation responses in general highlighted concerns and suggested that 
care would be needed to deal appropriately with Durham specific issues such 
as rurality, transport, health and social care patient flows and the police and 
fire boundaries.  Throughout the negotiations and development of the 
combined authority and the proposed devolution agreement, care has been 



 

 

taken to stress the issues that are specific to Durham.  These have been 
accommodated to date and it is important that they continue to be so. 

Recommendation 

58 It is recommended that Council: 

a) notes the information on the proposed agreement provided in the report 

b) notes the conditions on which the proposed agreement is to be decided 
namely: 

The outcome of the spending review on 25 November 2015; 

The legislative process; 

Further public consultations (which for Durham includes the results of 
the poll of all electors); 

Agreement by constituent councils; 

Formal endorsement by the Leadership Board and Ministers. 

c) notes the update on the degree to which these have been met, namely 

- That negotiations on funding to the North East are continuing following 
the outcome of the financial settlement for 16/17  

- Consultation outcomes, including those of the poll support the 
devolution of funding and resources to the North East but are cautious 
as to the degree to which devolution should go beyond the current 
proposed agreement and would wish to see a mayor with more limited 
powers; 

- That the legislation to enable devolution through mayoral combined 
authorities has received Royal Assent and that further detail is under 
development; 

- That each constituent council will consider the proposed agreement, 
making decisions through cabinets; 

- The Leadership Board will make a final decision when the position of all 
constituent councils is known. 

d) Notes and confirms that the following Durham specific conditions have 
been accommodated within the combined authority development and 
proposed devolution agreement to date, and must continue to be so in the 
final decision making: 

- There will be no change to the transport levy in a way as to 
disadvantage Durham; 



 

 

- Integrated transport arrangements will not mean more cost or 
disadvantage to Durham; 

- That absorption of the role of the Durham PCC is currently not part of 
the devolution agreement and that any future devolution will not be to 
the detriment of Durham’s police and fire services; 

- That any future interpretation of health and social care takes account of 
the significantly different patient flows in County Durham and is not to 
the detriment of health and social care services. 

Reason 

59 To take account of all of the issues associated with the proposed devolution 
agreement, including the results of the Durham poll, prior to consideration of 
the proposed devolution agreement by Cabinet. 

 

 

 

Contact:  Lorraine O’Donnell, Assistant Chief Executive 
                      Don McLure, Director of Resources 
                      Ian Thompson, Director of Regeneration and 
                      Economic Development 
                      Colette Longbottom, Head of Legal Services 
  



 

 

Appendix 1:  Implications 

 
 
Finance - In finalising the proposed devolution agreement, negotiations are currently 
taking place on how the concept of ‘fair funding’ for NECA can be satisfied with 
Communities and Local Government (CLG). 

The provisional grant settlement for 2016/17 in December 2015 was a less bad 
settlement when compared to previous years due to the formula taking into account 
council tax raising levels of each local authority in the context of ‘core spending 
power’.   

The final settlement included £150m of Transitional Grant funding for 2016/17 and 
2017/18 plus £61m Rural Services Delivery Grant where the biggest beneficiary 
authorities were the southern upper tier county councils.  Durham did not receive any 
funding from these two additional grants.  

 2016/17 Actual Position 
The average ‘core spending power’ across the whole of England in 2016/17 is a cut 
of 2.3%. 
The cut for Durham is 4.1% and the NECA average is a cut of 3.7% 
 
2016/17 to 2019/20 Actual Position 
The average ‘core spending power’ across the whole of England across the 4 years 
is a cut of 0.4%. 
The cut for Durham is 2.4% and the NECA average is a cut of 1.8% 
 
Impact on Core Spending Power (Excluding Council Tax Income) 
2016/17 
The average ‘core spending power’ across the whole of England in 2016/17 is a cut 
of 9.6%. 
The cut for Durham in 2016/17 is 10.5% and the NECA average is a cut of 9.8% 
The reason why the cut for Durham and NECA average is higher that the England 
average in this first year is due to the impact of the additional £150m of Transitional 
Grant funding which is a Government commitment for two years only in 2016/17 and 
2017/18 plus the £61m Rural Services Delivery Grant included in the final grant 
settlement. 
Along with all the other north east authorities (apart from Northumberland), Durham 
did not receive any of this additional funding and this has caused our cut in core 
spending power to be higher than the England average in 2016/17.  
 
Impact on Core Spending Power (Excluding Council Tax Income) 
2016/17 to 2019/20 
The average ‘core spending power’ across the whole of England across the next four 
years - 2016/17 to 2019/120 is a cut of 24.5%. 
The cut for Durham across the four years is 19.6% and the NECA average is a cut of 
19.8% 
The reason why the cut for Durham and NECA average is lower than the England 
average across the four year period is due to the £150m of Transitional Grant 
funding and  the £61m Rural Services Delivery Grant including only being paid in the 



 

 

first two years. This therefore has a beneficial impact in average comparison terms 
for Durham and the north east from 2018/19 onwards. 
 
 
 
Staffing - None 
 

Risk – within the body of the report 

 

Equality and Diversity / Public Sector Equality Duty - None 
 

Accommodation - None 
 

Crime and Disorder - None 
 

Human Rights - None 
 

Consultation - None 
 

Procurement - None 

 

Disability Issues - None 

 

Legal Implications - within the body of the report 
 
 

































This page is intentionally left blank



 
 

Summary of consultation on NECA 
 
The proposed devolution agreement, signed in October 2015 by the Combined 
Authority and Government was subject to a number of conditions prior to being 
considered and accepted by the seven local authorities and combined authority.  A 
key condition was consultation. 
 
Approach to Consultation  
 
Consultation and engagement has informed the development of the North East 
Combined Authority (NECA) and the development of the priorities and key areas in 
the proposed Devolution Agreement.  Consultation has taken place at three key 
stages, involving a wide range of stakeholders at both regional and local authority 
levels. 
 
Stage One:  Stakeholders including the public were consulted about the creation of 
a North East Combined Authority during December 2013 and January 2014. 
 
Stage Two:  In January 2015, the NECA Leadership Board developed outline 
proposals for potential devolution themes to discuss with Government and 
stakeholders.   These were consulted upon in March 2015.    
 
Strong support (97%) for the broad principle of devolution was identified through a 
range of methods including local and regional facilitated events, a questionnaire and 
the opportunity to submit comments in writing or online. Participants were asked for 
the views on whether the proposed priority areas were the right areas to concentrate 
on, if there were any areas missing, and how would they like to be involved in the 
work of the NECA in the future. 
 
More than 290 people attended seven events held across the NECA area, with the 
highest turnout in Durham of 80 people participating in facilitated discussions. 101 
people from the NECA area completed written responses and online responses were 
received via the NECA website. In addition, meetings were held with regional 
stakeholders and North East MPs and House of Lords members. 
 
Stage Three: Following signing of a proposed devolution agreement in October 
2015, consultation took place between November 2015 and February 2016 both at 
regional and local authority area. 
 
This included providing people with information and the opportunity to consider the 
content of the proposed agreement, ask questions and make informed comments. 
Participants were asked for their views on whether the proposed agreement focused 
on the right issues to drive growth in the North East, if there were any key areas to 
be included in the next round of discussions with government, how they saw their 
role in implementing the proposals and what would they want to discuss in more 
detail at future events.  
 
Consultation opportunities were publicised through press releases, local authority 
websites and social media.    
 



 
 

As with previous consultation, the highest turnout was in County Durham with 172 
people attending the event held at County Hall.  This was supplemented by the 
participation of 85 businesses at an event hosted by Business Durham at the Gala 
Theatre in January 2016.  Durham residents and organisations also participated in 
the wider thematic consultation held at a NECA area level. 
 
The remainder of this appendix provides a summary of the outcomes of the Stage 3 
consultation, with particular emphasis on the Durham response.  It identifies the key 
themes, level of support, considerations and concerns raised. Consultation methods 
included: 

 
- A facilitated consultation event at County Hall - part of a series regionally 
- NECA website and online consultation  
- Business Durham event at the Gala Theatre 
- Additional meeting at Teesdale Area Action Partnership 
 
Facilitated Consultation - Durham County Hall 
 
Local consultation events were hosted across the NECA area, the Durham event, 
held on 9 November 2015, was attended by 172 people. Following presentations on 
the draft proposals negotiated with Government, facilitated discussions took place.  
These provided participants with the opportunity to consider the information, discuss, 
ask questions and make informed comments.  
 
The outcomes of the Durham event strongly reflected regional outcomes and 
themes, showing broad support for the proposed agreement. Significant to Durham 
was discussion about rural inclusion and the need to give careful consideration as to 
how those services that would work across two Combined Authority areas might be 
impacted.  

 
When asked ’Does the proposed agreement focus on the right issues to drive growth 
in the North East?’ discussions indicated broad agreement and support and the 
following key issues emerged.  

a) Governance: There was wide discussion about the future governance 
arrangements of NECA and the role of the mayor.  Discussions stressed the need 
for clarity regarding scrutiny and monitoring, the balance of power and decision 
making in Combined Authority. Questions were raised about the selection and 
election of the mayor as well as the future cost of the mayor and its administrative 
office. 

 
b) Finance and Funding:  The impact and usefulness of receiving £30m per annum 

for 30 years covering seven local authority areas was discussed.  In particular it 
was highlighted that this needed to be considered in relation to the ongoing 
budget reductions across the region. The need for clarity as to how funds would 
be allocated fairly, including the needs of rural areas was stressed.  

 
c) Business:   Discussions stressed the need to focus on economic growth 

including encouraging enterprise, inward investment and innovation. The need to 
have a clear relationship with the LEP was also stressed. 

 



 
 

d) Employment, skills and education: Ensuring a range of employment 
opportunities at all levels exist across the area.  The need to review and 
reorganise post-16 education and apprenticeships was highlighted, as well as the 
need to ensure that pre-16 education meets business needs and future 
employability. The key link between transport network and access to work and 
training was also highlighted. 

 
e) Health and Social Care: There was strong agreement that health and social 

care should be a priority.  The governance of the (then) proposed Health and 
Social Care Commission was discussed including how various partners will be 
able to influence and shape the direction and decisions.  

 
f) Engagement and communication:  Engagement and communication was a key 

issue in Durham, stressing the need to raise awareness of the Combined 
Authority amongst the public and ensure that there are continued opportunities 
for people to be heard.   Bottom up engagement is valued and there should be a 
continued dialogue and with clear, simple and impartial messages.   
 

Participants were asked what they saw as their role in the implementation of the 
proposals. It was suggested that the following stakeholders need to be involved.  

 
- The Voluntary Sector 
- Partners such as health, police, fire service, universities 
- Town and Parish Councils 
- Trade unions 
- Young people 
- In Durham, Area Action Partnerships 

 
g) Boundaries and Geographical issues: The boundaries of the combined 

authority were discussed, including the size and diverse needs of the area as well 
as the urban and rural mix.  In particular, the issue that the combined authority 
boundary is not coterminous with organisational boundaries such as Fire and 
Police in Durham was a concern.    

 
h) Additional Areas: Participants were asked to identify additional areas for future 

discussions with Government about extending devolved powers. The key areas 
identified were culture and tourism, which it was stressed, should feature as an 
element in the agreement given its key economic role. There were also some 
suggestions that the environment and housing should be included as key themes. 

 
 



 
 

The Business Durham Event 
 

Over 85 businesses attended the Devolution Business Event held at the Gala 
Theatre, Durham on 26th January 2016 which included a presentation on the 
proposals followed by a question and answer session.  
 
A broad range of questions covering key areas such as targeted investments, 
business growth and engagement, skills development, the Mayor and governance 
arrangements, rurality and the need to ensure the NECA does not lose sight of the 
region’s wider connectivity and opportunities were highlighted by attendees.  The 
overall tone of the meeting was in support of the agreement with the majority of 
those who raised questions indicating their enthusiasm for the potential offered by 
the proposals. 
 
Teesdale Action Partnership Event 
 
A devolution consultation event attended by 36 members of the public was hosted by 
Teesdale Action Partnership on 1 February 2016.  The event included a presentation 
on the proposals followed by a question and answer session.   
 
There were a broad range of questions raised by attendees, these covered areas 
such as how the proposed deal could benefit County Durham, links with 
neighbouring areas such as Cumbria and North Yorkshire, and the scope for future 
negotiations and options open to the county council. The impression from the 
meeting was attendees felt there were a range of factors that would need to be 
addressed if the agreement was to go ahead. 
 
VONNE (Voluntary Organisations’ Network North East) Regional Event 
 
VONNE in partnership with NECA hosted a consultation event on 18 January 2016 
at Mea House which was attend by 62 organisations to discuss devolution proposals 
with the voluntary, community and social enterprise (VCSE) sector. The event was 
attended by a number of organisations that are based and operate in County 
Durham. The format was presentations followed by roundtable discussions with 
opportunity for the VCSE to feed back.  There was broad support for the proposal 
and priorities. 
 
The strong themes emerging from the voluntary sector included: 
 
- The Health and Social Care Commission was discussed and the sector felt it was 

important that it should be involved in its work. 
- The need for continued dialogue, ongoing communications and simple and clear 

messages.  This should include bottom up grass roots engagement.   
- The need to review and reorganise post-16 education and apprenticeships was 

highlighted, as well as the need to ensure that pre-16 education meets business 
needs and future employability. 

- Boundaries in relation to other Combined Authority and potential issues for 
health, fire and police. 

- Working collaboratively could counter balance budget reductions. 
 



 
 

The NECA  regional online consultation and comments 
 
92 people used the opportunity to respond to the questions posed at the events 
through a reginal online questionnaire on the NECA website. 
 
It is not possible to attribute local authority areas to the responses.   
 
The responses were diverse however similar strong themes emerged which reflect 
the outcomes of the other consultation methods. These include: 
 
- A strong agreement that the proposal could encourage inward investment, 

enterprise and innovation to support growth 
- The need to look at an integrated transport infrastructure including rural areas 

and single ticketing with a regional coordinating body 
- The additional areas suggested for future consideration were culture and tourism 

as well as the environment. 
 
In relation to governance, there was significant support for ensuring robust scrutiny 
and monitoring.  Also mentioned was the need to clarify the relationships with other 
levels of government such as local authorities, parish or town councils and central 
government. 
 
The importance of grass roots bottom up engagement was stressed as well as the 
importance of local consultations such as the Durham poll. 
 



This page is intentionally left blank



 

 
 
The Election Centre, 33 Clarendon Road, London N8 0NW 
Tel: 020 8365 8909 | Fax: 020 8365 8587 
www.electoralreform.co.uk | enquiries@electoralreform.co.uk 

 
Electoral Reform Services Limited | Registered No. 2263092 | Registered Office: 33 Clarendon Road, London N8 0NW  

 
 
 
 
 

DURHAM COUNTY COUNCIL 
NORTH EAST COMBINED AUTHORITY DEVOLUTION POLL 

 
 
Our report for the above consultation which closed at 5pm on Monday 8th February 2016 is 
as follows: 
 
 
 

Number of eligible participants:  377,110 

 Responded by post: 75,163  
 Responded online: 6,801  

Total number of responses received: 81,964 

Turnout:  21.7% 

 
 
 
 
 
 
Question 1 
 

Number of responses found to be invalid:    371 

Total number of valid responses to be counted:  81,593 

 

The Devolution Deal would mean that more decisions about spending on public services 
would be made in the North East, rather than by the Government in London. Do you think 
that devolving some power and resources to the North East would: 

 

Be a step in the right direction? 48,588 (59.5% of the valid responses) 

Make little or no difference? 16,268 (19.9% of the valid responses) 

Be the wrong thing to do? 12,120 (14.9% of the valid responses) 

I don’t know 4,617 (5.7% of the valid responses) 

 
 

 

 

 

 

Continued… 



 

 
 
The Election Centre, 33 Clarendon Road, London N8 0NW 
Tel: 020 8365 8909 | Fax: 020 8365 8587 
www.electoralreform.co.uk | enquiries@electoralreform.co.uk 

 
Electoral Reform Services Limited | Registered No. 2263092 | Registered Office: 33 Clarendon Road, London N8 0NW  

Question 2 
 

Number of responses found to be invalid:   1,088 

Total number of valid responses to be counted:  80,876 

 

If we agree the Devolution Deal we would have to have a North East Elected Mayor. The 
Mayor would be directly elected by voters across the North East area and would chair the 
Combined Authority, made up of Council Leaders. It’s not yet clear how powerful the 
Mayor would be. If the Deal goes ahead, how powerful should the Mayor be? Do you think 
the Mayor should be someone who: 

 

Has quite a lot of power and influence – 
perhaps coming to be seen as someone who 
represents the voice of the North East area? 

32,611 (40.3% of the valid responses) 

Has limited power and influence – someone 
who chairs the Combined Authority but does 
not have a major role representing the area? 

38,648 (47.8% of the valid responses) 

I don’t know 9,617 (11.9% of the valid responses) 

 

 
Question 3 
 

Number of responses found to be invalid:    583 

Total number of valid responses to be counted:  81,381 

 

The Devolution Deal would only cover some issues – some aspects of business support, 
post-16 education and training, transport, and housing. If the Deal does go ahead, do you 
think we should then try to get additional powers and resources devolved to the North 
East? 

 

No, I wouldn’t want to see more 
devolution 

18,235 (22.4% of the valid responses) 

I’m not sure – it depends, let’s wait and 
see 

34,909 (42.9% of the valid responses) 

Yes, I would like to see more devolution 22,992 (28.3% of the valid responses) 

I don’t know 5,245 (6.4% of the valid responses) 

 

Continued… 



 

 
 
The Election Centre, 33 Clarendon Road, London N8 0NW 
Tel: 020 8365 8909 | Fax: 020 8365 8587 
www.electoralreform.co.uk | enquiries@electoralreform.co.uk 

 
Electoral Reform Services Limited | Registered No. 2263092 | Registered Office: 33 Clarendon Road, London N8 0NW  

 

Question 4 
 

Number of responses found to be invalid:  537 

Total number of valid responses to be counted:  81,427 

 

The Devolution Deal is intended to improve our economy and create more and better 
jobs. But do you think it will make much difference? If the Deal does go ahead, do you 
think it will: 

 

Help to bring more prosperity and more jobs 
to County Durham? 

33,000 (40.5% of the valid responses) 

Have little or no impact on prosperity and 
jobs in County Durham? 

29,475 (36.2% of the valid responses) 

Lead to less prosperity and fewer jobs in 
County Durham? 

7,405 (9.1% of the valid responses) 

I don’t know 11,547 (14.2% of the valid responses) 

 

 

Electoral Reform Services can confirm that, as far as reasonably practicable, every person 
whose name appeared on the electoral roll supplied to us for the purpose of the 
consultation:- 

a) was sent the details of the consultation and 

b) if they chose to participate in the consultation, had their response fairly and 
accurately recorded. 

All consultation material will be stored for six months. 

Yours sincerely 

 
 
p.p Simon Hearn 
Deputy Chief Executive 
 




	Agenda
	2 North East Combined Authority: Devolution Agreement - Report of Chief Executive [Key Decision: CORP/R/16/01]
	Final Version 23 March Cabinet One
	Final NECA Appendix 2
	1
	2
	3
	4





